
SCHOOLS AND EDUCATION

Pre-1876
The first documented references to a school or schools in the village comes from the 1851 census followed by a mention in 1858 of one in Magna which was run by a woman named Jane Crowther; the inspector described her as “a dame with limited acquirements”. That same inspector described a private school started by Emily Mayne in Evias where the Inspector wrote that there were 30 to 40 children  and that the mistress was a person of “fair address”  .The building is still there today – as a cottage - and is still owned by the Estate.  At least up to 1927, that building was known as the Old Manor Schoolroom and was used for the annual Teffont Evias Parish Meeting.  As mentioned in “The Reading Room”, it was suggested in 1919 as an alternative to building a new Reading Room though nothing eventually came of that.
The National School  1876-1936
The real development of general education, at least in areas owned by the Earls of Pembroke, was in the first half of the 1870s and followed the passing in Parliament of the 1870 Education Act; this was the very first piece of legislation specifically designed with the provision of education in Britain and set the framework for schooling of all children between the ages of 5 and 13 in England and Wales. It was drafted by William Forster, a Liberal MP, and it was introduced on 17 February 1870 after campaigning by the National Education League;, although it was not entirely to their requirements. New schools to implement the Act could either be Elementary Schools, built and organised without Church involvement or a system of School Boards; these are mainly in towns and were encouraged by the National Education League.  The alternative which were Church run were for those organised and built by the British and Foreign School; these would be more likely to be in rural areas.  Money was collected for the costs and, in areas like Wiltshire, landowners would be encouraged to provide suitable sites.
This latter is what happened in Teffont.  On September 29th, 1876 – almost 20 years before the establishment of Parish Councils, conveyances were drawn up by the then Earl of Pembroke, the 14th, for the plot of land currently sited around and underneath the Village Hall which, as a result, is now owned by the Church.  .  The conveyance at Teffont very specifically included an addition that ensured that the new school covered children from Teffont Evias as well as those from Magna.
The land may have been free but the building was not.  Together with the conveyances in the County Records are the accounts for building the Teffont school; the main cost was as per the bill which was as charged by a builder named Mr King of Barford St Martin and cost the sum of £390.  There were a few extras taking the total to £405.12.6 and there was, at this stage, £312 in the accounts.  So far, it has not been possible to find out how the shortfall was raised but we do know that:
1. Parents still had to pay fees for their children to attend schools.

2. Boards would pay the fees of children who were poor, even if they attended Church schools .rather than Elementary ones.
3. The Boards could make grants to existing Church Schools and erect their own board     schools or elementary schools.

4. The Act was not taken up in all areas and would be more firmly enforced through later reforms.
In addition, there were objections to the concept of universal education. One was because many people remained hostile to the idea of mass education. They claimed it would make labouring classes 'think' and that such thinking might feel their lives as dissatisfying; they might even possibly encourage them to revolt. Others feared that handing children to over to a central authority could lead to indoctrination education. The Churches were funded by the State with public money to provide education for the poor and these Churches did not want to lose their influence on youth.

Despite all this, the Act established the foundations of English elementary education with the state (Gladstonian Liberalism) becoming increasingly involved and after 1880 attendance was made compulsory for children until they were 13 years old, with various exemptions.

The Act was passed partly in response to political factors (such as the need to educate the citizens recently enfranchised by the Reform Act 1867 to vote wisely). It also came about due to demands for reform from industrialists, who feared Britain's status in world trade was being threatened by the lack of an effective education system. The spectacular military successes of the Prussian army in the Austro-Prussian War prompted Gladstone to consider the military benefits of an Education Act; as he remarked, "Undoubtedly, the conduct of the campaign, on the German side, has given a marked triumph to the cause of systematic popular education".

Under the 1870 Education Act, Local authorities were required to make returns of the number of children in their area and existing educational provision. This was done by comparing the results of a census of existing school places with the number of children of school age recorded in the Census. If there was a shortfall, a school board for the district would be created.

These Boards were to provide elementary education for children aged 5–13 (inclusive).

Board Members were elected by the ratepayers under a system of cumulative voting. (The number of Board Members was determined by the size of the population of the district.) Each voter could choose three (or more) Board Members from a list of candidates, and those with the highest number of votes were chosen for the existing number of seats available. A voter could cast all their votes for one person. This was known as 'plumping' and ensured that religious (and, later, political) minorities could ensure some representation on the Board. The franchise was different from national elections, since female householders could vote and stand for office.

The Boards financed themselves by a precept (a requisition) added to either the local poor rate or the municipal rate. They were also eligible to apply for capital funding in the form of a government loan.

Parents still had to pay fees for their children to attend schools.

Boards would pay the fees of children who were poor, even if they attended Church schools.

The Boards could make grants to existing Church Schools and erect their own board schools or elementary schools.

Boards could, if they deemed it necessary, create a by-law and table it before Parliament, to make attendance compulsory (unless there was an excuse, for example, sickness, or living more than three miles from a school, or unless they had been certified as reaching a certain standard of education – see below). In 1873, 40% of the population lived in compulsory attendance districts.

Religious teaching in board schools was restricted to non-denominational instruction, or none at all.

Parents had the right to withdraw their children from religious education. This applied even to church schools. Rate-supported schools were prohibited from using distinctive religious formularies.

All schools would be inspected, making use of the existing regime. The individual schools continued to be eligible for an annual government grant calculated on the basis of their inspection ('payment by results')
There were ongoing political clashes between the vested interests of Church, private schools and the National Education League followers. In some districts the creation of boards was delayed by local vote. In others, church leaders managed to be voted onto boards and restrict the building of board schools, or divert the school rate funds into church schools.

Education was not made compulsory immediately (not until 1880) since many factory owners feared the removal of children as a source of cheap labour. However, with the simple mathematics and English they were acquiring, factory owners now had workers who could read and make measurements.

Following continued campaigning by the National Education League, (the non-Church party) following the Elementary Education Act 1880, attendance to age 10 became compulsory everywhere in England and Wales. In 1891, elementary schooling became free in both board and voluntary (church) schools.


The Log Books
The log books are a valuable source of the feel of what it was like to be a teacher or to be taught at the school. Unfortunately the log book(s) for the earlier years (1876 to 1907 appear(s) to be lost but the entries below gives a real feeling for Teffont village school life:  The log books were written the by the head teachers and tell as much about him or her as it does the life of the children.  The following extracts come from he 1908 to 1924 book, the oldest that we have managed to find.
There was a curious balance of contrast of entries, pointing up the chasm between the benefactors’ and the pupils’ lives: 

“child with dirty head told to tell mum” as opposed to
“Countess of Pembroke awarded prizes”

On the occasion of the Countess’s visit there is a list of children and another mentions of individual children, 23 in Infants. At this point there were 55 children in total on the roll.

.

Then in comes the mention of fires and chimneys which becomes a regular topic, the problems of these are borne by teachers and pupils alike with desperate strategies.  Sadly, but unsurprisingly, canings were mentioned all too often, culminating in May 21st 1908 “One child (named) came in laughing. Was stood out until playtime. Caned once. She did not even cry and she smiled at the other children as they came in from play and did not appear that she cared a bit.  She was kept her standing out till I went home“. The next day she received note from Mum saying her daughter was quite ill on coming home and was “keeping her at home today’”. 

June 22nd 1908, “Bertie Blake haymaking”, but “back this aft.”

Aug 1908 “5 boys harvesting”. 
“Salisbury Fair caused low attendance.”

29th October 1908 Miss Maudsley called am” and, more worryingly,
Nov 27 “Attendance Office”
Many comments cover the problems with the state of the building; it being late autumn through to winter “the smoking fire problem continued and children were sent to the playground.
Headmaster’s handwriting deteriorates and red crosses adorn the bad days but: “Chimney swept on Dec 12th and all was well”.
Was it the cold or the smoking fire that caused the following?
26th Feb “65 on roll of which only 38 were present.”

Ringworm is talked of and caning and whooping cough.

Rev G T Miller who was the rector of Teffont Evias during the 1st World War now giving scripture lessons. Then there is this interesting note:- 5 July 1915 “Only 28 children present this afternoon an aeroplane having come to earth not far off, they have gone to see it appear.”
At last a mention of the war:
”1915 Sept 16 “Troops in village.””

Sept 1914 Poor report from HM but no mention of WW1 until, in the margin, in red: 

” Armistice signed.”

22 Nov 1918 “School closed all day to allow me to see Miss Deaclist(?) in London.”
1921 19 Jan Lena E Teague takes charge of school. Then in February: 21st 1922 “Miss Dyer” takes over and, then “Miss Teague, presumably a change of Head Teacher and indeed the handwriting changes.

By March 1922 we have “Dentist visiting” and in Sept 16th 1922 “number on the roll is 51.
This Log Book finishes in with “children not being required to take tea to their fathers in hayfield.”

The final book is Teffont Magna National School 1925-36

Two trends become obvious as one reads the entries in this third and final log book.  One is the overcrowding in the school even though the numbers have dropped since those noted in the 1908 book.   For instance: “the mixed department has floor space for the accommodation of only 20 children and on July 13th there were 25 present” This is from the report by the HM, a Mr. Purdie.  It continues ”The school was closed. It should be noted also as affecting the school’s condition that since 1st September 1924.  The reference to the school being closed highlights the poor quality of the health of the pupils and the fact that the school was closed for an epidemic of sickness; from March 23rd to May 3rd  to make it worse, the HMI’s full report stated that ““the school was closed due to epidemic sickness from this year.  Since Sept 1st 1924 there have been 33 admissions and 8 re-admissions to the school and that the head teacher reckoned that 14 of the children have not been in this school for more than two years.”  There are reports about colds and flu plus tonsils “Removing tonsils is now the medical fashion”.  Dealing with tonsils did not seem to be improving matters as in March 6th 1936, it was reported:” Attendance has been very poor this week, owing to illness, heavy colds and coughs among the children. On two occasions only 12 were present out of 19 - 63%”.9 years earlier in 1927, it had been reported “Jan 17th School closed because of influenza followed by an epidemic of colds 3 weeks later”. Even the staff are affected “two teachers were away all week having bronchitis” in 1930.
The other trend is the slow dropping of numbers though the effects of the health problems tended to mask this.  One can see from the comments above that the number on the school roll at the closure has, even if they were all there, dropped to 19.  If one compares that to the numbers in the earlier entries in the logs: 




1915 65




1922 51




1926 49



1930 29




1936 26 following the announcement of the closure“. 
 Despite all this doom and gloom, there was good news in many of the log entries:
“CC (County Council) exam 7 passes, 3 failures”
“Older girls will do Domestic Science at Dinton Recreation Hut” in  Sept  1929
1926 “Cookery classes started and the girls attended a centre in Teffont Evias” That will be the Old Manor Schoolroom.

“Oct 1st Cod Liver Oil at School. 4 Children (new?) 2 Stanleys and 2 Hayes”

“and there is always Weather Reports such as “Terrible storm” Oct 24th 1929 or

“The temperature in the big room was 42 degrees and the new stoves smoking again.”

There obviously some families who did not appreciate the education available to them:
Nov 15th “Mabel Hayward insolent and difficult. Sent letter to parents and received a rude reply” so perhaps it was a relief to be able to note 1931 January28th “All the Haywards went.”

More good news in the form of:

 “Nurse Porter examined the children 22/22 and found all well and clean” and “26th March Betty Newbury and Irene Bracher, having passed the Intelligence Test, took the second part of the County Exams at Salisbury today.”

The children might prefer: “Half holiday this afternoon for the fair.” Or even May 26th 1926
“Col Shaw visited the School today and presented a Union Jack for the new Flag staff which he had previously given. A short address was given on the subject of the Union Jack and the older boys were taught to hoist it.”

And finally, dated 6 April 1936:

School finally closed today and all school apparatus, books etc were conveyed to Dinton.The children will attend school there after the Easter on April 20th.

All registers and log books sent to Trowbridge
Before we get to that stage, it is worth commenting on the other source material we have in the form of the School Account Book.  On the Title Page is the heading which is:

TEFFONT CHURCH SCHOOL ACCOUNT BOOK

FROM THE BEGINNING OF MY INCUMBENCY May 1930

W Keatinge Clay.  Rector

These accounts cover the last six years of the school’s existence income for the middle of 1930 – remember it was still a working school up to the end of the Spring Term 1936 – was £10.19s.10d.  One interesting item expenditure was to one Goodfellow (a well known Teffont name – was this  Vic or his  father?) being paid three shillings for trimming the hedge Compare that with a bill for a pound and six pence for Empire Day medals.  1932 saw donations of a pound by some of the village’s great and good and many more entries over all.  What is not clear is whether the salaries for the teacher(s) came through this account or were they paid directly from the County Council. It is most likely that the account represents the Church’s involvement with the finances where the County Council paid the major bills and gets a repayment from this account to the County Council for its share of things like utilities.  Backing this up, there is an entry in 1933 of a charge to this account by the County Treasurer for one shilling for the A/C’s share of Fire and Heat.
Time was running out for this little Village School with numbers too small to make it viable – but not without protest!  The Minutes of the Parish Council of March 25th 1935 include the item “It was passed the proposal to close the School at Teffont and that the Chairman be asked to inform the Director of Education at Wiltshire County Council to that effect. One document about the school included the comment “This closure was opposed strongly by the Parish.” partly because of the value the Village has always put on the building.
Ever since the building of the School in Teffont on land donated by the 14th Earl of Pembroke, the main room was used, in addition to Teffont’s primary education, as a centre of Village life.  For the years when it was the Village elementary School, the main room was called the School Room.  Now, in 1936, the building ceased to be a school, the main room was to be known as the Church Room and continued to be used for meetings and social life; it must have been a shock for the Village not only that the children who would have been expecting to start their education now had to trek over to Dinton each day but that the costs of the building would no longer be paid by Wiltshire County Council.
 The formalisation of the closure of the school was documented in a “SCHEME MADE BY THE BOARD EDUCATION UNDER THE CHARITABLE TRUSTS ACTS, 1853 TO 1925, IN THE MATTER OF THE TEFFONT MAGNA OLD NATIONAL SCHOOL” dated 31 May 1937.  

And so was that to be the end of education within Teffont’s Parish boundarie…or was it?
Teffont Nursery School 1965-1975
By the middle of the 1960s, the world was a different place and a movement called the Playgroup Movement had started, encouraged by the need for child care while more and more mothers wanted to go out to work and (it was strongly a middle-class phenonimum) not wanting to give up their careers and the use of their highly valuable (mainly graduate) skills.  Teffont was not left out of this although its example was in some way atypical – particularly in its facilities.  It started with three mothers each with two children. Two of the mothers were very artistic (one a photographer the other a writer) while the third was a trained nurse with some experience of running a small Playgroup in an Army cabbage patch – she was also a very talented organiser.  Thus, in 1965, started Teffont Playgroup (later Teffont Nursery School) with the artistic mothers doing their artistic work and the organiser doing just that.

It flourished.  Health and Safety had not become as ridiculous as it is now.  One had to register but not with Ofsted – which did not exist – but with the Health Visitors.  The local Health Visitor was a friend and bad at counting so she let the occasional child extra to the original permitted number of 8, later 14, appear.  In fact, the Health Visitor brought the occasional problem child  The house, yes it was run in a private house which is where it was nor typical and was different to the Village Halls that most of the other local Playgroups used.
 As time went on the organizer learnt that she was a gifted teacher as well and children going up to school entry age – remember that that entry age was five at that time – were normally reading by the time they started at school – not always to the happiness of the local Primary Schools.

So why did it stop?  A number of reasons.  The organiser/teacher realized that she would like to try and teach older children and had the opportunity to attend the final mature student course at the Teaching Training College in the Close in Salisbury.  The family started to grow out of their house.  The organiser’s children – there are three of them now - had grown through it and wanted their privacy.  The opportunity was there in that one of the other people who were working at the Nursery School showed an interest in taking it over.

So, in the summer of 1975 Teffont Nursery School became Dinton Pre-School and moved about a mile closer to Salisbury on the B3089 – and has been a great success for the last 40 years.
And was that the end of it? Well, not quite.
Private Tutoring  - 1990-2006
The ex-Nursery School Organiser survived the Teachers Training College – more than the College did, it has long since gone.  She gained experience in a number of different teaching environments and from about the year 1990 found herself working as a peripatetic tutor driving from house to house in the evenings This proved to be very tiring, fighting with the evening rush hour traffic across Salisbury so she changed her way of working and, eventually, organised that she would teach for four one hour sessions for three days each week out at her house in Teffont.  This continued until she became very ill in 2003 at which time she reduced her work to just three pupils, each for an hour a week.  She died early in 2006.
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